IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC03-1553
Lower Tribunal No.: 95-1473CF10A

LYNFORD BLACKWOOD,

Appellant.

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KENNETH M. MALNIK
MALNIK & SALKIN, P.A.
Florida Bar No.: 351415
1776 N. Pine Island Road
Suite 216
Plantation, FL 33322
(954) 423-4469; FAX (954) 423-

4479

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the Circuit

Court's summary of denial of Mr. Blackwood's Motion for

Postconviction Relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla.

R. Crim. P. 3.850.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal.

"R" - Record on Direct Appeal to this Court.

"PCR" - Record on Instant 3.850 Appeal to this Court.

"PCT" - Record on Postconviction Transcript

"G.P." - Guilt Phase Trial Transcript

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Blackwood has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Blackwood, through counsel, accordingly argues that the Court permit oral argument.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTi
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT
TABLE OF CONTENTSiii
TABLE OF AUTHORITIESiv
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTvii
ARGUMENT I
THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT MR. BLACKWOOD WAS ENTITLED TO A NEW PENALTY PHASE PURSUANT TO STRICKLAND25
ARGUMENT II
THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY SUMMARILY DENYING MR. BLACKWOOD'S CLAIM I OF HIS AMENDED MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE WITH SPECIAL REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO AMEND IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS
CONCLUSION

iii

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

				Page(s)
Ake v. Oklahoma 4 7 0 (1985)				6 8
Armstrong v. State 8 6 2 S o . 2 2003)			2	(Fla.
Blackwood v. State 777 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 20 2,34	00)			
Blanco v. Singletary 943 F.2d 1477 1991)		-1502	(11 th	Cir.
Davis v. State 6 8 3 So. 2 d 1996)			5 ^{t h}	DСА
Deaton v. Dugger 6 3 5 S o (1993)				8
Dixon v. State 6 2 7 So. 2 d	1 9	(Fla.	2 d	D C A

1993)54
Gaskin v. State 7 3 7 S o . 2 d 5 0 9 (Fla. 1999)
Gregg v. Georgia 4 2 8 U . S . 1 5 3 , 1 9 0 (1976)
Hamblin v. Mitchell 3 5 4 F . 3 d 4 8 2 , 4 8 7 (6 th Cir. 2003)30,31
Morgan v. Illinois 504 U.S. 719, 112 S. Ct. 2222, 1 1 9 L . E d . 4 9 2 (1992)
O'Connell v. State 4 8 0 S o . 2 d 1 2 8 9 (Fla. 1986)43
Peede v. State 7 4 6 S o . 2 d 2 5 3 , 2 5 7 (Fla. 1999)37
Rivera v. State 7 1 7 S o . 2 d 4 7 7 (Fla. 1998)
iv Roberts v. Louisiana 428 U.S. 325 (1976)
Roberts v. State 568 So. 2d 1255, 1259 (Fla. 1990)37
Shepard & White, P.A. v. City of Jacksonville 827 So. 2d 925, 932 (Fla. 2002)39
State v. Bruno

807 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 2001)40,41
State v. Coney 845 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2003)34
State v. Davis Fla. L. Weekly S82 February 19, 200438
State v. Dixon 283 So. 2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1973)39
State v. Lewis 838 So. 2d 1102, 1114 (Fla. 2002)31
State v. Smith 573 So. 2d 306, 317 (1990)54
Stephens v. State 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033-34 (Fla. 1999)32
Strickland v. Washington 466 U.S. 668, 687, 688 (1984)25,26,29,30,33,35
<i>Tedder v. State</i> 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975)34
Valle v. State 705 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1997)37
Walker v. State 701 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1997)
Wiggins v. Smith 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003)25,27,28,29,30,33

Williams v. Taylor
529 U.S. 362, 395-369
(2000)
v
Woodson v. North Carolina
428 U.S. 280
(1976)
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED:
Fla. R. Crim. P.
3.850i
ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance in Death Penalty
Cases

vi <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

ARGUMENT I: THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT MR. BLACKWOOD WAS ENTITLED TO A NEW PENALTY PHASE PURSUANT TO

STRICKLAND

ARGUMENT II: THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY SUMMARILY DENYING MR.

BLACKWOOD'S CLAIM I OF HIS AMENDED MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE WITH SPECIAL REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO AMEND IN VIOLATION

OF HIS RIGHTS

Vii STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and sentences under consideration.

Mr. Blackwood was indicted by the Grand Jury with the First Degree murder of Carolyn Thomas-Tynes.

After a jury trial, Mr. Blackwood was found guilty of First-Degree Murder on December 6, 1996. The lower court scheduled a penalty phase seven weeks after the guilty verdict, and the jury recommended a death sentence for the first degree murder conviction by a vote of nine (9) to three (3) on January 23, 1997. (PCT 236, 1-3) The trial court then conducted a Spencer Hearing on April 11, 1997. On May 16, 1997, the trial court imposed a death sentence for the First Degree Murder conviction. However, the trial court found only one aggravating factor: the

murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC), but the trial court found one statutory mitigator (no significant history of prior criminal conduct), which it gave "significant weight", and eight nonstatutory mitigators: (1) emotional disturbance at the time of the crime (moderate weight); (2) capacity for rehabilitation (very little weight); (3) cooperation with police (moderate weight); (4) murder resulted from lover's quarrel (no specific weight given but considered this factor to the extent that the killing was borne out of a prior relationship and was fueled by passion); (5) remorse (some weight); (6) appellant is good parent (some weight); (7) appellant's employment record (some weight); and (8) appellant's low intelligence level (some weight). Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399, 405 (Fla. 2000)

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Blackwood's conviction and his sentences, but his death sentence was affirmed by close a four-three vote in which the minority held that the death sentence was disproportionate to Mr. Blackwood's crime.

Mr. Blackwood filed an initial Motion for Post-conviction Relief on October 1, 2002. The lower court granted, on November 20, 2002, the State's Motion to Strike Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend without Prejudice. He then filed his final

Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on December 2, 2002. On March 21, 2003 and April 11, 2003, the lower court held Case Management hearings pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

Following the two Case Management hearings, the lower court entered an Order on April 11, 2003....granting a limited Evidentiary hearing on Claims II and III. An Evidentiary hearing was held on June 19-20, 2003. (PCT 1-308)

The defense put on four witnesses in the evidentiary hearing. The most critical witness was Mr. Blackwood's trial counsel, Robert Ullman.

Mr. Ullman represented Lynford Blackwood. (PCT 226-19-20) Mr. Ullman was not practicing law at the time of the evidentiary hearing. (PCT 226-10-12) His Bar license had been suspended for three years effective January, 2001. (PCT 226-13-16) Mr. Ullman had been convicted of a Federal felony for using a telephone to conspire to secure an illegal drug and was placed on four years probation on June 5, 2002. (PCT 227-3-14) Mr. Ullman, at the evidentiary hearing, expressed a desire to reinstate his license. (PCT 228-6-13)

Mr. Ullman was appointed in June, 1996, after another attorney, Robert Trachman, withdrew and the case went to trial in December of 1996. (PCT 232-1-7) Mr. Ullman waited until

December 12, 1996 to seek out an expert, Dr. Macaluso, to become a witness for the penalty phase. (PCT 233-20-234-20) This request for an expert for the penalty phase was made after a guilty verdict occurred on December 5, 1996. (PCT 234-21-235-1) Mr. Ullman sent his first letter dated December 17, 1996 advising his expert that the penalty phase was scheduled to start January 23, 1997. Dr. Macaluso had done a limited competency evaluation of Mr. Blackwood. (PCT 237-3-5)

In his letter, Mr. Ullman referenced materials that he sent Dr. Macaluso, including Dr. Macaluso's psychological report, Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield's report, John Spencer's report, Mr. Blackwood's statement, the detective's report and Dr. Price's autopsy report. (PCT 237-11-20) On January 7, 1997, Mr. Ullman received a letter from Dr. Macaluso. (PCT 239-4-6) Mr. Ullman testified that Dr. Macaluso did not meet with Mr. Blackwood after December 17 for the purposes of mitigation. (PCT 239-15-19) Mr. Ullman testified that Dr. Macaluso indicated in his letter that he could not assist with testimony. (PCT 239-20-24) Mr. Ullman testified that he learned he had no expert sixteen days before the penalty phase on January 23, 1997. (PCT 240-7-13)

Mr. Ullman's strategy for the penalty phase was to present mental health mitigation. (PCT 240-14-17) Mr. Ullman believed

that he had a decent chance of securing a life recommendation. (PCT 240-18-21) In addition, Mr. Ullman believed that he had a pretty good chance of arguing legal standards for obtaining a life sentence. (PCT 240-22-241-1)

Mr. Ullman had a telling slip of the tongue when he was asked what he did once he learned that he had no expert before the penalty phase.

- Q Did you ask for another expert to be appointed before the penalty phase once Dr. Macaluso indicated he wasn't going to be helpful?
- A I believe I did a motion to have Dr. Garfield involved in the case. She was already involved in the case.
- Q Did you do the motion before the penalty phase?
- A I believe so.
- Q Okay.
- A It wouldn't be any good afterwards.
 No. Well, I didn't want to be flipped.
 Let me strike that. Rephrase that.
- Q I don't think you can strike that.
- A No, I can't. I'm sorry. But to answer your question, I believe I did the motion.

(PCT 241-2-15)

The truth be told, Mr. Ullman did not secure the services of a mental health professional until one month after Mr.

Blackwood received a 9-3 death recommendation, and the jury heard no mental health professional testimony. (PCT 247-11-23) Mr. Ullman testified that he sent her a letter on February 26, and the Spencer Hearing was held on April 11, 1997. (PCT 248-3-9) Mr. Ullman detailed a number of items that he sent Dr. Block-Garfield.

Α Okay. Well, first, I outlined procedurally where we were at and the dates and brought her up to speed with regard to procedures and the jury's finding, and then I gave her a factual scenario of what happened. Documents that were in the Spencer Hearing. appointing Dr. Garfield. Location of the defendant. Copy of the mitigators. A copy of the case law that was applicable. Copy of Dr. Ericston Price's deposition. Garfield's evaluation, her initial competency. Copy of the police reports from Fort Lauderdale. Copy of detective - excuse me. Detective Desaro's report. I believe he was in Petersburg. Let's see. Blackwood's confession. The autopsy report. And there may have been other things. Copy of the mitigators. the aggravators. That's the information that is referenced in the letter.

(PCT 249-14-250-3)

However, many critical items were missing and as a result, Mr. Loe attacked Dr. Block-Garfield. Mr. Ullman did not remember providing these items.

- Q Did you ever, to the best of your memory, send her transcripts of the penalty phase testimony?
- A Transcripts of the penalty phase testimony, I don't remember.
- Q Did you ever sent her school records of Mr. Blackwood?
- A I don't believe I did. I don't know. I don't remember.
- Q Did you ever send her Dr. Price's testimony at the trial?
- A The trial level? I don't know. I don't remember.
- Q Did you ever send her the testimony of Mr. Blackwood's cousin, Mr. Robinson?
- A I don't recall.
- Q Did you ever send her an audio tape of his statement?
- A No. I don't believe so.

(PCT 250-4-20)

Incredibly for a case of this magnitude, Mr. Ullman never scheduled a formal meeting with Dr. Block-Garfield. (PCT 251-1-6) Mr. Ullman initially indicated that he spoke to Dr. Block-Garfield concerning the case. (PCT 251-7-9) However, Mr. Ullman conceded after reviewing time records that were used for his bill that his bill from February 25 to April 11 reflect no conversations with Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield. (PCT 251-21-252-16)

At the time of the hearing, based on Dr. Block-Garfield's

report, Mr. Ullman testified that he believed that he would establish emotional distress as a statutory mitigator. (PCT 258-1-14) He indicated that he was surprised as a matter of semantics that she did not testify consistent with her report. (PCT 258-15-17) Mr. Ullman conceded that he was aware that the Florida Supreme Court placed greater weight on statutory mitigators than non-statutory mitigators. (PCT 258-18-21) Mr. Ullman provided the following analysis of Dr. Block-Garfield's testimony.

- Q Would you agree then that you felt she backstroked when she testified from the report that she gave you?
- A I felt, with all due respect, that Dr. Garfield did not have a grasp of the definition of statutory mitigators even though she previously supplied me with one. That's what I felt.
- Q I thought you felt that after she concluded her testimony?
- A During and after.

(PCT 258-25-259-8)

Although Mr. Ullman tried to shift blame to Dr. Block-Garfield for the Spencer Hearing fiasco, the following colloquy reveals that Mr. Ullman was woefully unprepared for the Spencer Hearing.

Q Did you ever ask her if she recommended any further testing of Mr. Blackwood?

- A I don't recall. I believe she did though. I don't recall.
- Q Did she indicate what type of testing she felt would be helpful?
- A No. It would be in the record. I believe there were neuro psychological exams, yes, but I never had a psychiatrist or psychologist basically say there wasn't further testing needed.
- Q Did she indicate to you that it would have been helpful to have some neuro psych testing of Mr. Blackwood?
- A I believe so.
- Q Did you pursue that?
- A No, sir.
- Q Why not?
- A Well, there are time parameters, costs involved, case costs involved.
- Q Did you ever ask the Court based on the information that Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield had given you for a continuance so that you could pursue a neuro psych evaluation?
- A I believe there was a motion filed for a continuance but I think that I don't recall if I filed a motion for continuance. I don't believe it was predicated on that basis though. I believe there was a motion for -
- You don't believe that in your motion you specified that as a ground?
- A Correct.

- Q What grounds did you give for seeking a continuance of the Spencer Hearing?
- A I think it was preparation.
- Q And what was the Court's response?
- A Denied.

(PCT 259-11-260-18)

Trial counsel's level of preparation for Mr. Blackwood's case is exemplified by trial counsel's use of an investigator to assist in Mr. Blackwood's penalty phase.

Mr. Ullman indicated that he filed a motion to have an investigator assist him with Mr. Blackwood's case. (PCT 242-2-4) The court granted an Order permitting the use of \$1,500.00 for an investigator. (PCT 242-5-7) Mr. Ullman initially told the lower court that as a matter of trial strategy that the investigator was not called as a witness. (PCT 242-11-22) Mr. Ullman conceded that Mr. McCoy was not used to locate witnesses. (PCT 242-1-5) Mr. Ullman acknowledged that Mr. McCoy was directed to visit Mr. Blackwood. (PCT 243-1-9) Mr. Ullman conceded that he was familiar with defense Exhibit "3" which is a letter that he wrote to Mr. McCoy; where "If you get a chance, what I want you to do is call Mr. Blackwood, to go meet his acquaintance and tell him what a great lawyer I am and what we will be doing to bring him up-to-date, somewhat. Enclosed is a

copy of a newspaper article in the Fort Lauderdale Supplement.

Thank you for your courtesies and cooperation."

Mr. Ullman's stated reason for having Mr. McCoy tell Mr. Blackwood that he was a great lawyer:

"That was my attempt at sarcasm or wit. Looking back at it it might not have been the brightest thing to do. I'm sure Mr. McCoy took it with the intent it was written."

Mr. Ullman could not remember what he told Mr. McCoy to tell Mr. Blackwood about Mr. Blackwood's case. (PCT 245-6-11) Mr. Ullman could not tell what else Mr. McCoy did on Mr. Blackwood's case. (PCT 246-15-19) Mr. Ullman stated that Mr. McCoy did not do a lot of work in the file. (PCT 246-13-14)

Mr. Blackwood at the Evidentiary hearing called Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield as a witness. Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield is a psychologist licensed in the State of Florida.(PCT 8-6-8) Dr. Block-Garfield first conducted an evaluation for competency of Mr. Blackwood on April 28, 1995. (PCT 10-4-9) Dr. Block-Garfield spent an hour with Mr. Blackwood in the competency evaluation and another one and a half hours writing a report. (PCT 11-2-8) Mr. Blackwood was so severely depressed that Dr. Block-Garfield did not render an opinion on competency. (PCT 11-15-22) Dr. Block-Garfield conducted a second evaluation on December 15, 1995 for approximately the same amount of time.

(PCT 14-17-21 and 15-1-3) She rendered the opinion he was competent to proceed even though he was still depressed. (PCT 15-4-12)

Dr. Block-Garfield's third evaluation of Mr. Blackwood was triggered by a Court Order by Judge Cohn signed on February 21, 1997. (PCT 20-9-13) Mr. Ullman, Mr. Blackwood's trial counsel, sent a letter to Dr. Block-Garfield dated February 25, 1997. (PCT 21-22-22-3) Most significantly, Mr. Ullman indicated that he expected Judge Cohn to follow the jury's recommendation irrespective of what Dr. Block-Garfield did on the case. (PCT 22-4-13)

Dr. Block-Garfield testified that Mr. Ullman provided her with the following:

He gave me the notice of the Spencer Hearing, the Order appointing me, copy of the mitigators, copy of Dr. Price's deposition, my initial evaluation regarding competency, reports taken by Fort Lauderdale Police Department, and a copy of Detective Desaro's report, as well as Doctor Price's autopsy report. He did not list it, but I believe he had given me a copy of Mr. Blackwood's statement. (PCT 22-16-23)

Dr. Block-Garfield had conducted capital mitigation evaluations before Mr. Blackwood's evaluation. (PCT 12-17-20) Her practice in a mitigation evaluation is to request as much information as there is available, including police reports and

she generally will say "give me everything you have." (PCT 13-15-14-2) In other mitigation cases, defense attorneys arranged meetings with family members so she could get a more independent analysis of the person. (PCT 14-12-16)

Dr. Block-Garfield was informed that the Spencer Hearing was scheduled on April 11, 1997, to be conducted within six weeks from her appointment to do a mitigation evaluation. (PCT 23-2-8) In previous mitigation evaluations, she had months to conduct an investigation. (PCT 23-9-15) Dr. Block-Garfield testified that she had never had less time to work before the hearing than on Mr. Blackwood's case. (PCT 23-16-18)

Dr. Block-Garfield testified that she never met with Mr. Ullman before the Spencer Hearing. (PCT 23-19-24) Dr. Block-Garfield testified that she reviewed Mr. Blackwood's file in preparing for the evidentiary hearing, and she had no notes, records of telephone calls or billing that reflected discussions with Mr. Ullman about Mr. Blackwood's case. (PCT 23-22-25-2)

Dr. Block-Garfield had worked with a number of criminal practitioners in Broward County on capital cases, and her normal practice when called either by the State or the defense was to have a meeting to discuss her findings. (PCT 25-2-26-12) Dr. Block-Garfield testified that even if she did not discuss the actual questions with the attorney, then she would discuss the

issues that would be addressed. (PCT 26-25-27-6) Dr. Block-Garfield had no idea what questions Mr. Ullman was going to ask her at the Spencer Hearing. (PCT 27-7-13)

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