### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LYNFORD BLACKWOOD,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC03-1553

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr. ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEBRA RESCIGNO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0836907
1515 N. FLAGLER DRIVE
SUITE 900
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401
561-837-5025 (Phone)
561-837-5108 (Facsimile)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Mr. Loe: That's true.

Ms. Weil: I would like to think we're all intelligent adults, and I know when I'm starting to go sway one way or another that I catch myself. I'm just saying something's that's deep inside you may influence you if you've gone through that process.

Mr. Loe: Ok fair enough.

Ms. Weil: and it hasn't been favorable let's say.

(T. Vol. II pp. 240-241).

Mr. Loe: Do you all feel that you could give a fair trial to both sides? Anybody of the

31 of you that are seated here that we talked to today, feel that you couldn't be fair and impartial to everyone? No hands.

(T. Vol. II p. 243).

Moreover, the prosecutor asked all of the jurors that if he proved his case beyond a reasonable doubt they would vote guilty, and juror Weil answered affirmatively (T. Vol II p. 244-254). Hence, after a complete review of the record, it is clear that there was no basis upon which Mr. Ullman could successfully challenge juror Weil for cause. See Reaves v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S601, (Fla. 2002) (finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to strike a juror for cause because Reaves had not shown that trial counsel had a reasonable basis to assert for-cause challenges). The trial court correctly found that the claim was refuted from the record, warranting summary denial.

## 3.Juror Wolf

Blackwood claims that Ullman was deficient for failing to challenge juror Wolf for cause because her experiences with the criminal justice system would prevent her from being a fair and impartial juror. Blackwood argues that he was prejudiced because juror Wolf improperly sat on the jury.

However, as the trial court correctly found, this claim is also refuted from the record. Juror Wolf never stated that her

experiences with the criminal justice system would prevent her from being a fair and impartial juror. Rather, in the instant case, the record reflects that there was no reasonable doubt that juror Wolf possessed an impartial state of mind.

During voir dire, the following occurred:

Mr. Ullman: Has anyone ever put a gun to your head? That's the kind of information I'm looking for.

Mr. Rousseau: No.

Mr. Ullman: You know, not- Ms. Wolf?

Ms. Wolf: My mother-in-law was mugged, robbed, beaten.

Mr. Ullman: Really?

Ms. Wolf: Yeah.

Mr. Ullman: Did they catch the suspect?

Ms. Wolf: No.

Mr. Ullman: Where did that happen?

Ms. Wolf: North Miami.

Mr. Ullman: All right. Down in Dade?

Ms. Wolf: Uh-hum

Mr. Ullman: Were you involved in the case? Did you go down there and reassure her and talk to any detectives?

Ms. Wolf: No, we didn't speak to anybody at the police. But it was a very cavalier attitude from her opinion.

Mr. Ullman: Really. They never caught the

suspect?

Ms. Wolf: No

Mr. Ullman: The fact that that happened, is that going to affect your ability to sit here?

Ms. Wolf: I wouldn't think so.

Mr. Ullman: No?

Ms. Wolf: No.

(T. Vol. III, pp. 307-308)

Mr. Ullman: ...So when you're back there, should we get there, all right-and I have no idea whether we will-will you follow the law as it relates to the penalty phase? How about you Ms. Wolf?
Ms. Wolf: Yes.

(T. Vol. III, p. 325).

Mr. Ullman: ... My point simply is this, will you weigh the aggravators and mitigators? Because that's important? How about you?

Ms. Wolf: Yes.

(T. Vol. III p. 326).

Hence, after a complete review of the transcript, it is apparent that Mr. Ullman could not be deficient for failing to strike juror Wolf for cause because he had no proper basis on which to make such a motion. See Reaves v. State, 826 So.2d 932 (Fla. 2002) (finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to strike a juror for cause because Reaves had not shown

that trial counsel had a reasonable basis to assert for-cause challenges). Because the claim is refuted from the record, it was proper to summarily deny it.

#### D. Ineffective Cross-Examination

Blackwood next argues that the trial court erred by summarily denying his claim that Ullman was ineffective in his cross-examination of Detective Palazzo. In summarily denying this claim, the trial court stated:

The Defendant failed to plead with specificity how Mr. Ullman was deficient and how the Defendant was prejudiced by the cross-examination of Detective Palazzo. The defendant's allegations are conclusory and legally insufficient.

In determining the effectiveness of Ullman's cross-examination it is important to discern the overall defense to charged crime and the theory behind the defense, which was that this was not a case of first-degree premeditated murder. clear from the record that Mr. Ullman's trial strategy was to argue that the crime could only have been a lesser degree of murder because the evidence demonstrated that Mr. Blackwood snapped and that there was absolutely no evidence of premeditation. The record reflects that Mr. Ullman carried particular trial strategy effectively and his performance fell well within the wide range οf reasonable professional assistance. Based on the record, the Court finds that Mr. Ullman was not deficient in his cross-examination of Detective Palazzo, nor is there any evidence that there is a reasonable probability that for any deficiency in the crossexamination, the result would have been

different. Therefore, this claim must be summarily denied.

(Order). The trial court's ruling was correct. Blackwood's motion cites to different portions of the cross-examination and makes conclusory claims that the questioning was ill-conceived, devestated/damaged Blackwood's case, or made good points for the state, yet the motion fails to explain why such questioning was deficient and how Blackwood was prejudiced by the questioning. The defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden. See Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

Moreover, as the trial court found, this claim is without merit. Blackwood claims that Ullman's cross-examination of Detective Palazzo was ineffective because Ullman made a good point for the state on the issue of premeditation, allowed the detective to discredit Blackwood's statement that he did not know that Ms. Thomas was dead when he left the house, and allowed Detective Palazzo to discuss Blackwood's intelligence. However, as the trial court found, it is apparent from the record, when read as a whole, that Mr. Ullman effectively cross-examined Detective Palazzo.

During the opening statement, Mr. Ullman argued that there was no evidence that the murder was premeditated. Rather, he

argued this was a case of second-degree murder as the evidence would demonstrate that Blackwood snapped (T. Vol. 3 p 375). During closing arguments, Mr. Ullman argued that the evidence reflected that the crime was not planned. Specifically, Ullman attacked Detective Palazzo's testimony that Blackwood intelligent and argued that based on Blackwood's actions during and after the crime, Blackwood was not smart enough to plan such a crime (T. Vol. 6 p. 808). Mr. Ullman argued that based on Blackwood's actions of leaving the scene without attempting to hide the crime, but leaving his car there, showed that Blackwood was not an intelligent person who thought-out the crime (T. Vol. 6 p. 808). During his rebuttal closing argument, Mr. Ullman argued that this was not a planned crime, rather they had sex, they had an argument, and the crime happened (T. Vol. 6 p. 836). Clearly, Mr. Ullman's trial strategy was to get a conviction on the lesser included offense of second degree murder.

The cross-examination of Detective Palazzo, when viewed in its entirety, shows that Ullman established that, other than the manner in which the crime was committed, there was no additional evidence of premeditation. Specifically, the following occurred during cross examination of Detective Palazzo:

Question: Okay, So if I understand you correctly, there is no independent witnesses that say, listen, I planned on killing Carolyn Thomas?

Answer: Oh, no.

Question: There is no-there is no planning, any evidence of that, that he discussed killing her?

Answer: No, if he did, we don't know it if-

Question: So there is no evidence of that?

Answer: Right

Question: So your answer, as far as premeditation, is the murder itself?

Answer: Yes.

Question: And to base your opinion that the murder was done in such a way that that caused premeditation, you're relying on the choking and the strangulation?

Answer: Yes.

Question: Hypothetically speaking, let me ask you a question. I shoot a person six times in the back, spur of the moment, I just take my gun out, I don't even know the person, I shoot him six times in the back, would you not make the same argument that because of the injuries it was premeditated?

Answer: You can't expect me to formulate an opinion just on that, because when we do an investigation, we have to look at the totality of the circumstances. Why were you there? What were you doing? What was your relationship with that person? Uhm did you have a reason to want them dead? You know, did you have a motive? Was there a point in time where you should have realized what you were doing was going to kill that person? And you should realize at that point you better stop because you're going to kill them?

Question: Good Point. Here's my next question for you. Mr. Blackwood, the defendant, indicated that he loved Ms. Thomas, did he not?

Answer: He did.

Question: He indicated that he was sorry for

what happened did he not?

Answer: He did.

Question: Didn't he indicate on two occasions, if not three, during the course of the statement, he didn't know she was dead?

Answer: He did say that.

Question: And he choked her until she was unconscious?

Answer: That's what he said.

Question: Okay. That's what he said. All right. Now as an investigator, did you think it was unusual that he didn't know she was dead when he choked her?

Answer: There is no doubt in my mind that before he left that house he knew she was dead.

Question: He had indicated that he thought she was alive because there was a quot, a white spitty, foam substance coming from her mouth?

Answer: Yeah that would be the soap bubbles.

Question? Mixed with saliva?

Answer: Right.

Question: So in Blackwood's mind, according to his statement, when he left the house, he looked at foam bubbles coming out of the mouth and in his mind he felt she was alive? You've taken numerous statements, haven't you, in the past?

Answer: Of course.

Question: On a one to ten, ten being a fairly bright individual, not necessarily a road scholar, and one being fairly stupid, for lack of a better term, individual, or not that bright, where would you rate this gentleman, his intelligence level?

Answer I don't know him well enough to rate his intelligence. I only dealt with him that one afternoon during a statement.

(Emphasis added)(T. Vol. 6 pp. 675-678).

Detective Palazzo further agreed that it seemed ridiculous that an intelligent person would leave his car at the crime scene, drive out west and discuss the crime with other people (T. Vol. 6 pp 679-680). Hence, it is clear from the record that Mr. Ullman argued that there was no evidence to support premeditation, that Blackwood was not smart enough to plan the crime, and that he did not know that Ms. Thomas was dead when he left the house. Ullman clearly argued for second-degree, not first-degree murder. Therefore, it is apparent that Mr. Ullman was not deficient nor has Blackwood shown that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

#### E. Defense Counsel's Failure to Object

Blackwood's last argument is that the trial court erred by summarily denying his claim that Ullman was ineffective by failing to object to Detective Desaro's comment on Blackwood's silence. In summarily denying this claim, the trial court found:

The Defendant's allegation that Mr. Ullman was ineffective because he failed to object to Detective Desaro's comment on defendant's silence, is without merit.

The Court finds that even if Desaro's comment could be viewed as a comment on the Defendant's silence, the defendant failed to show prejudice as a result of Mr. Ullman's failure to object to Detective Desaro's comment. Since the Defendant ultimately gave a taped recorded confession, this Court finds that any comments on the Defendant's silence, if interpreted as such, were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Additionally, the defendant failed to show prejudice as a result of Mr. Ullman's failure to object to Detective Palazzo's testimony that he believed the defendant knew that the victim was pregnant. Both Serina Thomas, the victim's daughter, and hazel Thomas, the victim's sister, testified that they had spoken to the Defendant before the murder and he knew the victim was pregnant. Therefore, any opinion rendered by Detective Palazzo, including his belief that the Defendant had lied, was harmless error in light of the testimony of the victim's daughter and sister.

(Order). In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 488 U.S. 871 (1988), the Florida Supreme Court adopted a rule for determining whether a comment constitutes a comment

on silence. The court said that if the comment is "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on the defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent it will be treated as such. See also State v. Kinchen, 490 So.2d 21 (Fla.1985). Where a defendant does not "remain silent" at the time of arrest, the constitutional right is found not to have been exercised. See Anderson v. Charles, 447 U.S. 404 (1980); Ivey v. State, 586 So.2d 1230, 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Here, Blackwood ultimately waived his right to remain silent and confessed to choking Ms. Thomas (T. Vol. 5 pp. 590-599). That confession was played for the jury. Because Blackwood did not "remain silent," Mr. Ullman cannot be deficient for failing to object to Detective Desaro's testimony. Moreover, even if Mr. Ullman should have objected there is no prejudice because Blackwood has failed to show a reasonable probability that, but counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at Comments on a defendant's silence are subject to harmless-error analysis. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Here, as the trial court found, any error in allowing Detective Desaro to testify that Blackwood did not want to talk anymore is harmless because Blackwood subsequently waived his right to remain silent and confessed.

Blackwood's contention that Ullman was ineffective for failing to object when Detective Palazzo testified that he believed that Blackwood knew that Ms. Thomas was pregnant is also without merit. Although Detective Palazzo's opinion regarding Backwood's truthfulness is irrelevant, Blackwood cannot show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Serina Thomas, the victim's daughter, and Hazel Thomas, the victim's sister testified that they had spoken to Blackwood and he knew that Carolyn was pregnant (T. Vol. 6 pp. 760-765, 770). Hence, Blackwood cannot show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89. Although Detective Palazzo opined that Blackwood lied when he said he did not know Carolyn was pregnant, such testimony is merely cumulative because victim's sister and daughter testified that Blackwood knew she was pregnant. Cf. Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1991)(finding that question and response about Capehart's truthfulness were improper however error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt).

#### CROSS APPEAL

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, BY VACATING BLACKWOOD'S DEATH SENTENCE AND GRANTING A NEW PENALTY PHASE.

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